# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

No. 73190-4-1

CHARLES V. MCCLAIN, III

Appellant, Pro se

VS.

1st SECURITY BANK OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

INFORMAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Charles V. McClain III, pro se 18012 31<sup>st</sup> Ave. NE Unit A Arlington, WA 982233 (360) 658-5060 cvm.third@gmail.com

### **

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in the granting of Summary Judgment to Respondent, as there were several issues of material fact in dispute.
- 2. The trial court erred in the denial of Appellant's Partial Summary Judgment, as Appellant did in fact; have standing to reclaim \$475,000.00 and the balance of the total deposits to Appellant's account with Respondent.
- 3. The trial court erred in the granting of Respondent's Summary Judgment, as it made several mistakes of fact.
- 4. The trial court erred in the granting of Respondent's Summary Judgment and the denial of Appellant's Partial Summary Judgment, as it made several mistakes of law and fact.
- Respondent has no standing to defend its actions by claiming fraud.
   Issues pertaining to Assignment of Error
- 1. Respondent argued that Appellant was involved, knew who was involved or participated in an internet fraud of J.P. Morgan Chase Bank along with Wachovia Band (Now Wells Fargo) Cox Communications and Comcast. (CP 552, Ins. 19-20) Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact.

Respondent argued that even though the money was deposited and

credited to Appellant's joint account, with right of survivorship the money in the account was not the property of the accountholders and the result of fraud. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact.

Respondent stated Appellant and his son had another account with Respondent. Respondent stated in their Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 558, lns. 17-19) the following: "... more than \$52,000.00 was deposited into McClain's other 1st Security account, on which he and his son were joint owners." (CP 365 at Item 17, Ex. P at CP 533) Respondent cannot have it both ways. Respondent has never asked for those funds to be returned, nor did Respondent seize those funds. Respondent also states in the RP pg. 2, lns. 24-25 and pg. 3, lns. 1-3 that Respondent deposited funds into Appellant's account. That is a misstatement and not a factual representation of what actually occurs with ACH Transfers. The wires sent by J.P. Morgan Chase and Wachovia Bank, for approximately 4.5 million dollars was received by Respondent. Upon completion of the wire transfer Respondent took title to all funds and then credited Appellant's account with the same amount. This in effect made Respondent Appellant's debtor and Appellant the Creditor. At this point in time the credits in Appellant's account were not legally accessible by Respondent. Respondent was liable to Appellant for the amount shown on Appellant's bank statement. (CP 316 at Item 4, Ex. 1, CP 321, Total Deposits) The funds were available for withdrawal at any time pursuant to Appellant's Account Agreement. (CP 365 at Item 16, Ex. O, at CP 521 under Withdrawals) Respondent illegally froze the account of Appellant and denied Appellant access to his funds. (CP 317 at Item 10, 343, Ex. 7, Ins. 2-4) This was a violation of Appellant's Deposit Agreement (CP 365 at Item 16, Ex. O, at CP 521) the Washington State Constitution and Washington State law as Respondent acted as an agent of the government and disturbed Appellant in his private financial affairs a right guaranteed under the Washington State Constitution Article 1 Section 7. Appellant attempted to amend his complaint to include additional claims such as breach of contract, but that motion was denied. Thus, Appellant will have to pursue those claims, which is his right, in Federal Court. However, it is addressed in the RP pg. 17, Ins. 15-22.

Respondent argued the Declarations of Correen King (CP 598-601) and Michael Lippert (CP 589-597) established that fraud was committed. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. The Declarations do not meet the legal requirement of Washington that all nine elements of fraud be proved and did not state Appellant was an active participant in the alleged fraud. It does however prove that Appellant's private banking information was provided by Respondent to both Correen King and Michael Lippert in violation of Washington Constitution, Law and Appellant's Deposit Agreement, which was also a claim in Appellant's Motion to Amend, which was denied.

Respondent argued that it was legal to commit wire and bank fraud in order to retrieve the \$475,000.00 wired to Appellant's Sister-in- Law.

Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. Respondent avoided prosecution for wire and bank fraud. This is not possible without a conspiracy and governmental support. This action does violate Appellant's Constitutional Rights, as the Respondent is and was acting as an agent of the government. The Court should take Judicial Notice that Respondent admits to monitoring of private bank transactions and activity of its accountholders (CP 365, Item 19, Ex. R, CP 542, Ins. 15-17) then contacts government agencies providing private financial information without any subpoena, warrant or Court Order.

Respondent argued Appellant offered no proof he was entitled to the funds in the account. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. Respondent was aware that Appellant was to receive half of all monies received by Harrison Hanover, as the direct result of saving Harrison Hanover's life. (CP 97, lns. 14-19) The Court should take Judicial Notice that CP 94-118 was not the Declaration of Harrison Hanover that was stricken from the record and that the transcript verifies the Trial Court never considered Appellant's evidence. (*See*, RP pg. 4, ln 21-24)

Respondent argued they returned the money to its lawful owner.

Respondent was not in a position to determine the legal owners, as it is the duty of a court of law. In fact, Respondent's admission they took action on a deposit account based on the ownership of the funds in the account meets the requirement of Washington law supporting conversion making Respondent

liable to Appellant for all losses incurred.

Respondent mislead the trial court, as the ACH Agreement, which is part of Appellant's Deposit Agreement and applies only to funds transferred by Appellant not funds received (CP 365 at Item 16, Ex. O, at CP 530 at Law Governing Certain Funds Transfers) Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact.

Respondent argued they had to return the funds once they knew a fraud had taken place or Respondent would face civil liability. This is only true if the actual knowledge is presented prior to the settlement date and the crediting of Appellant's account. Respondent never had actual knowledge of a fraud and never met the elements of fraud set forth in Washington State law. Respondent can do whatever it desires with its money, after settlement where Respondent gains title, but it cannot take Appellant's funds from Appellant's demand deposit account unless Appellant is in debt to Respondent, which Appellant was not. Respondent again mislead the trial court by not citing the appropriate legal standard. The liability only applies if the account holder initiates an ACH transfer, as the receiver is not bound by the ACH rules.

Respondent argues Appellant cannot prove conversion. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. The Respondent again misleads the trial court. All of the ACH rules cited do not apply to Appellant. Once money is credited to a deposit account, pursuant to Washington State law, if a disagreement arises the bank files an Interpleader and acts as a

disinterested third party until the court decides ownership.

2. Respondent argued the money in a bank account cannot be considered chattel. Appellant's argument in his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was that Respondent interfered with the \$475,000.00 wired to Appellant's Sister-in-Law. Respondent has abandoned a defense in Appellant's appeal of the Partial Summary Judgment Order, thus acknowledging their mistake. The \$475,000.00 was actual funds removed from the joint account of Appellant and Harrison Hanover in which Respondent stated all right, title and interest were vested in Hanover. This makes the wired funds chattel the Respondent had no right to seize or control those funds. Respondent cannot have it both ways. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact.

Respondent argued it had the right to return the funds. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. While this is true it is somewhat misleading, as the money returned was not the money from Appellant's account. The money Respondent took possession of at the time of settlement was the Respondent's money, title and all. Respondent then took or erased all the credits in Appellant's account, in which Appellant had title to, reducing both Appellant's accounts to a zero balance.

Respondent argued its actions were authorized by contract. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. Even though Respondent stated in sworn discovery the following "Defendant is unaware of any

document, Contract, ACH or NACHA policy that required it to return the ACH deposits to the ODFI's." Respondent cannot have it both ways. It is well settled that a contract cannot circumvent the laws of Washington State.

Respondent mislead the trial court as the ACH Agreement which is part of Appellant's Deposit Agreement by claiming it applies to all funds transfers. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact. It actually applies only to funds transferred by Appellant not funds received.

Respondent never addresses the issue of the amount of the total deposits in Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to Appellant's account shown on Appellant's December Bank Statement in the amount of \$9,323,583. Respondent claims it was a reversal that caused the issue. However, According to NACHA Rules Notice must be given to the receiver prior to the settlement date of the reversing entry which was never done. Thus, due to Respondents abandonment of Appellant's appeal of the partial summary judgment order and under court rules a statement of fact not disputed in a required pleading is an admission of that fact as being undisputed. As such, after Respondent returned the disputed amounts to Cox Communications and Comcast it left from the above total \$4,673,906.10 moneys unaccounted for. The amount left in credits/deposits in Appellant's account after the admitted withdrawals/debits by Respondent is \$4,673,906. This amount has yet to be returned and does not include a debit of \$35.00 for the wire transfer which Respondent has never returned either. The trial court

erred in failing to order the return of these funds.

Respondent stated in sworn interrogatories that ownership of the funds were never determined, (CP 231 at No: 59) yet Respondent on several occasions states it returned the funds to its legal owner in its pleadings to the court and letters to the FDIC and Department of Financial Institutions. Appellant denied same thus creating an issue of material fact.

3. Respondent was granted Summary Judgment by stating there were no material facts in dispute. Appellant has shown several disputed facts (CP 176-180) that are material to the claims made by Appellant and how the Respondent has intentionally misled the Trial Court, as to the law that was applicable to the issues before it. The Declarations and evidence presented to the Trial Court by Appellant was either dismissed or not considered by the Trial Court due to the misrepresentations of Respondent as there is simply no law or contract that allows Respondent's actions. In fact, it is contrary to established case law. Respondent itself stated in swore interrogatories the following: "Defendant did not make a decision as to the ownership of funds." (CP 231 at No: 59) And "In addition, defendant made no determination regarding plaintiff's property interest or lack thereof in the fraudulent deposits." (CP 259 at No: 62)

Respondent came before the court with unclean hands and was allowed to prevail against the Appellant by claiming fraud while failing to properly plead or prove the fraud pursuant to Washington State Court Rules

and law. Respondent mislead the Trial Court by their inaccurate pleading and characterizations of the law and what rights were available by the Account Agreement

- 4. Respondent actions in misleading the Trial Court resulted in several mistakes of law in the granting of Respondent's Summary Judgment and the denial of Appellant's Partial Summary Judgment. In the following argument Appellant will combine the misleading actions of Respondent as to both the Respondent's Summary Judgment and the Appellant's Partial Summary Judgment motions.
- 5. Respondent had no standing to claim fraud, as they were not a party to a fraud, if a fraud took place. Respondent is however responsible for their actions after the deposit of funds to Appellant's account and remain liable for those actions.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

It is undisputed by Respondent and is shown on Appellant's bank statement that during the month of December of 2009, Appellant's deposit account received deposits totaling \$9,323,583.08. (CP 316 at Item 4, Ex. 1, CP 321 at Total Deposits) Respondents alleged fraud and took \$4,127,429.98 this left a balance of \$4,673,906 which has not been returned to Appellant.

Respondent acquired monies from an account of a foreign national at a bank outside the U.S. in late January 2010, by claiming fraud on senders account, wire is fraud and wire was fraudulent, (CP 99

at Item 15) after Respondent stated that all right, title and interest were vested in Hanover, as to the \$475,000.00 withdrawn and wired from the joint account of Appellant to his Sister-in-Law in Manila Philippines.

There is nothing in law or contract that allows for this action by Respondent.

The issue before the Trial Court was to the liability of Respondent based on the actions Respondent took after the deposits to Appellant's Demand Deposit Account when the Washington State laws and Article 4A took effect. Those actions included denying Appellant's right to withdraw funds at 9:00am and later the freezing of Appellant's account on the morning of December 14, 2009, disclosing private financial information to both the FBI and Secret Service (CP 259 at No: 63) also a direct violation of Appellant's Account Agreement and Washington State law. Respondent's actions in preventing Appellant from withdrawal of funds amounting to approximately \$650,000.00 was a direct violation of not only Appellant's Account Agreement but also Washington State law. Which resulted in consequential damages. Respondent was aware of in the form of investments in gold mines and a Casino in Central America. (CP 98, Ins. 7-11)

Additional actions included lying to Appellant, other banks and state agencies, misleading (Lying) to both the FDIC (CP 316 at Item 6, CP 324, Ex. 3) and the Washington Department of Financial Institutions (CP 316 at Item 5, CP 322, Ex. 2) along with the Trial Court, resulted in millions of dollars of losses by Appellant. Respondent committed perjury

when they claimed under oath in interrogatories ownership of the funds
was not determined then told the Trial Court, the FDIC and the
Washington Department of Financial Institutions the legal owners were
Cox Communications and Comcast.

Respondent contacted the FBI and Secret Service December 14 and 15, 2009, respectively and provided them with Appellant's private financial information with no warrant, subpoena or court order including the wire of \$475,000.00 to the Philippines. Respondent then proceeded to seize the wire sent to another bank in the Philippines through the illegal acts of wire and bank fraud. Not to mention theft from Appellant's Sister-in-Law's bank account. There is no doubt that this could not have occurred without the assistance of a government agency and the granting of immunity from prosecution. Respondent would not return the funds until it was issued Letters of Indemnity from J.P. Morgan Chase, Wachovia Bank now Wells Fargo Bank, (CP 582 at Item 12, Ex. A, CP 585-586) Cox Communications and Comcast to absolve Respondent from any liability from Appellant. This is a *De Facto* admission of said liability to Appellant.

A grand Jury was convened in January of 2010, obtaining Appellant's bank and financial records with a subpoena, but failed to charge or indict Appellant or Harrison Hanover. The Secret Service cleared Appellant soon thereafter. Appellant attempted for over a year to resolve this issue with Respondent to no avail. Court action was a last resort.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Appellant makes his lack of standing argument first; as if this claim is valid the court need not waste its valuable time going any farther. Appellant argues that Respondent did not have standing to claim fraud. Because standing is a jurisdictional issue, however, it may be raised for the first time in appellate court. RAP 2.5(a); *Mitchell v. Doe*, 41 Wn. App. 846, 847-48, 706 P.2d 1100 (1985). Respondent was not a party to the fraud, if in fact, a fraud took place. The only entities' that have standing to claim a fraud occurred are the companies where the funds came from and or possible their banks and they are not Defendants in this instant action.

Respondent did not plead fraud pursuant to CR 9(b) which states: "Fraud, Mistake, Condition of the Mind. In all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity. Malice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a person may be averred generally."

There are nine elements of fraud pursuant to Washington State law. Those elements generally are: (1) a representation of an existing fact, (2) its materiality, (3) its falsity, (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth, (5) his intent that it should be acted on by the person to whom it is made, (6) ignorance of its falsity on the part of the person to whom it is made, (7) the latter's reliance on the truth of the representation, (8) his right to rely upon it, and (9) his consequent damage. See Turner v. Enders,

15 Wn. App. 875, 878, 552 P. 2d 694 (1976).

The Declarations of Correen King and Michael Lippert do not identify who supposedly committed the fraud. The Declaration of Correen King claims the deposit was a mistake. There is nothing in either Declaration stating Appellant was a party to the alleged fraud, therefore Respondent could not have met any of the nine elements of fraud.

In the case is Go-Best Assets Ltd. v. Citizens Bank, 79 Mass. App. Ct. 473, 495, 947 N.E.2d 581 (2011). For the Court's convenience Appellant has identified the players in this instant action within Go-Best's statement (Bolded). The Court stated: The fraud or breach of contract claim of the originator (Cox Communications and Comcast, Originators) may be grounds for recovery by the originator (Cox Communications and Comcast) from the beneficiary (Appellant) after the beneficiary (Appellant) is paid, but it does not affect the obligation of the beneficiary's (Respondent) to pay the beneficiary (Appellant)."Id. The bank's (Respondents) duty to pay the wired funds to Goldings's (Appellant's) account supersedes any common-law duty the bank may owe to those whose funds are at risk of misappropriation.

Even, if Respondent was able to and had standing to claim fraud. Appellant would still receive the funds and have a claim against Respondent for damages. In the case *United States v. Redcorn*, 528 F.3d 727 (10th Cir.2008) Again, for the Court's convenience Appellant has identified the

players in this case as above within the *Redcorn* statement (Bolded). The case stated: Reluctantly, we are forced to agree. (The Court) Once the defendants (Appellant) deposited the funds into their personal bank accounts, (Appellant's Accounts held by Respondent) they had accomplished their crime and the funds were available for their personal use. That they chose to transfer part of their stolen money to their broker in Florida for the purpose of investments is purely incidental to the fraud; they could just as easily have decided to blow it on a luxury trip to the Ozarks.

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