73190-4

73190-4

NO. 73190-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES V. MCCLAIN III,
Appellant,

v.

1ST SECURITY BANK OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Jean E. Huffington WSBA #19734
William T. McKay WSBA #17694
McKAY HUFFINGTON & TYLER,
PLLC
14205 SE 36th St., Ste 325
Bellevue WA 98006
(206) 903-8600

~~FILED~~
COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2015 SEP 17 AM 10:56

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

. . . .

Appellant's attempt to claim a property interest by reason of her own bank account is groundless. In reality, she is attempting to claim a property interest in the funds erroneously sent to her deceased husband, but cannot escape the fact that she has no entitlement to these funds.

Powderly, 704 F.2d at 1097. A property interest – which McClain must establish to prove conversion – does not arise from the mere fact funds were erroneously deposited into the Account.

Failure by McClain to establish even one element of the conversion claim through admissible evidence would have been sufficient to defeat the claim. Here, the overwhelming admissible evidence negated all three elements. The claim of conversion for the funds in the Account

fails as a matter of law and the trial court properly dismissed it on summary judgment.

As to the portion of the deposits that were wire-transferred to the Philippines, the trial court had still another basis to dismiss McClain's claim. McClain is not a real party in interest and lacks standing to assert a claim as to the \$475,000 wire transfer. By his reasoning, however flawed, he claims legal entitlement to money deposited into the Account from any source after he was authorized as a Signer. It is undisputed that Hanover withdrew the \$475,000 from the Account and completed the wire transfer prior to adding McClain to the Account. CP 581, 471-472. Consequently, McClain can claim no entitlement to the funds used in the wire transfer. Additionally, the recipient of the wire transfer was a person named Armi Que, not McClain. The record is devoid of any indication McClain has been authorized to act on Armi Que's or Hanover's behalf. McClain had no right, title or interest in the wired funds.

The standing doctrine prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal rights. *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 138, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 (1987). Cases should be brought and defended by the parties whose rights and interests are at stake. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 419, 879 P.2d 920 (1994). This principle is also reflected in the court rules and in common law limitations on who can

bring suit. *Id.*; *see also* CR 17(a). McClain lacks standing to allege conversion of the \$475,000 wire transfer because as a non-party to the wire transfer, either as a sender or a beneficiary, his rights and interests are not at stake. 1st Security acknowledges no property interest by either Hanover or McClain in the funds diverted from Comcast and Cox. Nevertheless, even under McClain's tortured theory of entitlement, any interest in the funds would be Hanover's who withdrew the funds and wired them before McClain was added to the Account.

Finally, the Court should take note that the frequent references to the wire transfer being "seized" by 1st Security are utterly unsupported by evidence. 1st Security never seized the wire transfer nor took independent action to accomplish its retrieval. The wire transfer went from 1st Security to intermediary Citibank NYC and possibly one or more intermediary bank(s) before being received at Banco De Oro Philippines. CP 543-44. At the request of Cox, 1st Security made a request to the intermediary bank, CitiBank NYC, for reversal of the wire transfer. 1st Security had no involvement in or knowledge of whatever steps were undertaken by CitiBank NYC, any other intermediary banks or Banco De Oro Philippines to accomplish the return of the funds. All that 1st Security knew is that the funds from the returned wire transfer were ultimately received by 1st Security from Citibank NYC approximately six

(6) weeks after the request for their return. CP 544. By that time, 1st Security had closed the Account. 1st Security then returned the funds Cox. CP 544.

In sum, McClain has no standing to allege conversion of the wire transferred funds. In any event, 1st Security never seized any wire transfer, nor deprived McClain of any of the wired funds. There was no error in the trial court's dismissal of the conversion claim, including as to the funds wire transferred by Hanover.

C. 1st Security Owed no Fiduciary Duty to McClain, so that Claim Fails as Well

McClain abandoned his claim for breach of fiduciary duty. The trial court properly dismissed the claim. A fiduciary duty does not arise merely by reason of a checking account relationship between bank and customer. 1st Security's relationship with McClain was purely contractual; an arm's length transaction under which 1st Security offered a defined service to its customer in exchange for a fee. This relationship with a checking customer has uniformly been held not to impose a fiduciary duty on a bank. "As a general rule, the relationship between a bank and a depositor or customer does not ordinarily impose a fiduciary duty of disclosure upon a bank. They deal at arm's length." *Tokarz v. Federal Frontier Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 33 Wn. App. 456, 458-59, 656

P.2d 1089 (1982); *citing Pigg v. Roberston*, 549 S.W.2d 597, 600 (Mo. Ct. App. 1977).

There are certain limited circumstances under which a bank may be held to a duty greater than that imposed in contract. Under Washington law, a bank is held to a quasi-fiduciary standard only where it provides an "extra service," or there exist "special circumstances" resulting in a relationship of trust and confidence with a customer. *See Annechino v. Worthy*, 162 Wn. App. 138, 143-44, 252 P.3d 415 (2011); *Hutson v. Savings and Loan*, 22 Wn. App. 91, 102-103, 588 P.2d 1192 (1978); *Tokarz*, 33 Wn. App. at 462. None of those limited circumstances exist in this case. The trial court's decision to dismiss the fiduciary duty claim should be affirmed.

D. McClain Presents no Facts or Argument in Support of his Due Process Claim, Which the Trial Court Properly Dismissed.

Just as he did in response to the Motion for Summary Judgment, McClain presents no facts or argument pertaining to his due process claim and has abandoned it on appeal.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part: No person shall . . . be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . . *U.S. CONST. amend. V*. Most rights secured by the Constitution are protected only against infringement by governments,

including the Fifth and Fourteen Amendments. *See Flagg Bros., Inc. v. Brooks*, 436 U.S. 149, 156, 98 S.Ct. 1729, 56 L.Ed.2d 185 (1978); *National Bd. of YMCA v. United States*, 395 U.S. 85, 92, 89 S.Ct. 1511, 23 L.Ed.2d 117 (1969).

There are very limited circumstances where a Fifth Amendment violation can be found where property is taken by an intermediate third party. In order to prevail on such a claim, McClain must show "direct and substantial" government involvement. *Nat'l Bd. of YMCA v. United States*, 395 U.S. 85 at 93; *Casa De Cambio Comdiv v. U.S.*, 291 F.3d 1356, 1361 (Fed. Cir. 2002). In this case, McClain presented no evidence showing government involvement in removing funds from his bank account, let alone "direct and substantial" government involvement triggering Fifth Amendment protections. Indeed, the only references to this claim in McClain's Opening Brief are conclusory statements to the effect that 1st Security's actions were "not possible without conspiracy and government support, This action does violate Appellant's Constitutional Rights, as the Respondent is acting as an agent of government." [sic] AB 4. Just as he failed to do in the trial court, McClain produces no facts or argument on appeal to support his wild speculation regarding governmental involvement.

Additionally, McClain's has failed to prove that he has a constitutionally protected property interest in the Comcast and Cox deposits. The requirements of Fifth Amendment due process impose constraints on governmental actions which deprive individuals of protected liberty and property interests. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 424, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976); *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 569, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972). A court must be convinced that the plaintiff has a property or liberty interest protected by due process before it can evaluate whether the process afforded that interest was adequate. *Powderly*, 704 F.2d at 1097; *Richardson v. Koshiba*, 696 F.2d 911, 916 (9th Cir. 1982).

As discussed above in relation to McClain's conversion claim, he has no legitimate or lawful right to the funds that were erroneously deposited into the Account and returned to Cox and Comcast. It is undisputed in the evidence that the funds were deposited into the Account as a result of a fraud perpetrated upon Comcast and Cox. McClain's only claim to the funds is based entirely upon the fact that they were erroneously put in his account. His due process claim has no merit and was properly dismissed on summary judgment by the trial court.

E. McClain Fundamentally Misunderstands and Therefore Misstates Legal Doctrine.

1. McClain's Arguments are not Supported by his Cited Authorities

Most of McClain's citations to authority do not stand for the propositions he advances. Although replete with citations, his brief is almost entirely lacking any legal foundation. He takes language out of context. He relies heavily on dicta. He cherry-picks sentences out of cases and statutes which, in a vacuum, appear to support his proposition, but which have no legal significance in this case; or at least not the significance he attempts to derive. While some of this is to be expected in a *pro se* filing, it is nevertheless improper and must be identified for what it is.

A prime example of McClain's fundamental failure to derive a case holding is found in his repeated citation to *Go-Best Assets Ltd., v. Citizens Bank*, 79 Mass. App. Ct. 473, 495, 947 NE2d 581 (2011). That case involves a victim of fraud who sued the bank where the funds had been deposited before the fraudster absconded with them. The theory of recovery was negligence, based upon the fraud victim's claim that the bank should have taken steps that would have prevented its account holder from withdrawing the funds. The language McClain quotes is not from the Massachusetts Court of Appeals case he cites. Rather, the quote

appears in a subsequent case in the Massachusetts Supreme Court, in a footnote. The footnote is pure dicta, in the form of a hypothetical, posing the question of what would have been required of the Bank if it had owed a duty of care to the plaintiff — which the court held it did not. McClain quoted a portion of the footnote for the proposition that the bank's duty was to pay its account-holder, regardless of whether or not a third party had a claim against the account-holder for fraud as to those funds. True to form, McClain omitted the end of the footnote which actually condones 1st Security's actions in this case:

Therefore if Citizens Bank owed a duty of care, it could not have prevented the funds from being deposited in Goldings's client account and instead would have had to take reasonable steps to prevent Goldings from misappropriating the Go-Best funds in his client account, either by freezing the account or otherwise ensuring that the Go-Best funds were safeguarded. The intrusive nature of such steps and the interference with the account holder's access to funds deposited in his account is justified only where the bank has actual knowledge of an intended or apparent misappropriation.

Go-Best Assets Limited v. Citizens Bank of Massachusetts, 463 Mass. 50, fn 6, 972 NE2d 426 (2012) (emphasis supplied). McClain failed to derive the legal significance of those words or of the case. If *Go-Best Assets* actually applied here, its footnoted dicta would justify 1st Security's actions in freezing the Account because of obvious fraud.

Another example of the unreliability of McClain's citation to authority is found in his reliance on *United States v. Redcorn*, 528 F.3d 727 (10th Cir. 2008). McClain quotes language from the case in support of his assertion that stolen money, once deposited into his account, belongs to him. The case stands for no such proposition. As the case name suggests, *Redcorn* is a criminal case involving an embezzlement scheme. In connection with the wire fraud charges, the government maintained that even after the funds had been stolen, the defendants' subsequent actions in using the funds established additional criminal conduct. In that context, the Court stated that "[o]nce the defendants deposited the funds into their personal bank accounts, they had accomplished their crime and the funds were available for their personal use." *Id.* at 739. The court's meaning was not that a bank deposit somehow gives rise to a property right to stolen funds; rather that once the funds had been stolen and deposited into the defendants' account, the elements of the crime were satisfied and that what the defendants subsequently did with the funds did not alter the analysis. *Id.* at 739. *Redcorn*'s criminal case holding has no place in the analysis of this matter.

McClain advances yet another argument for the first time on appeal, that 1st Security may not take any action regarding the fraudulent

and erroneously deposited funds without “actual knowledge” of the fraud.⁶ He cites to RCW 30.22.210 for this proposition. Once again, he fails to understand the purpose of the statute and simply latches on to a phrase that suits his purpose – “actual knowledge” — without any regard for whether the statute even applies. It does not.

The purpose of RCW 30.22 *et seq.*⁷ is to qualify and simplify the law concerning ownership interest disputes between depositors and beneficiaries on accounts and succession of funds on deposit with financial institutions. RCW 30.22.020. This is not such a case, but even if it was, RCW 30.22.210 does not prohibit any actions taken by 1st Security in this case. Indeed, the provision is not a prohibition on a bank’s actions, it is a protection for a bank’s decision not to act.

The statute reads:

(1) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be deemed to require any financial institution to make any payment from an account to a depositor, or any trust or P.O.D. account beneficiary, or any other person claiming an interest in any funds deposited in the account, if the financial institution has actual knowledge of the existence of a dispute between the depositors, beneficiaries, or other persons concerning their respective rights of ownership to the funds contained in, or proposed to be withdrawn, or

⁶ Ironically, another of McClain’s random cites to statutes, RCW 62A.4A-404, permits a bank to take action upon “reasonable doubt” concerning his right to the funds.

⁷ RCW 30.22 *et seq.* has been recodified as RCW 30A.22 *et seq.*, effective January 5, 2015. In an effort to remain consistent with the Appellant’s opening brief, we will refer to the statute as originally codified.

previously withdrawn from the account, or in the event the financial institution is otherwise uncertain as to who is entitled to the funds pursuant to the contract of deposit. . .

RCW 30.22.210 is intended to protect a bank from incurring liability in a dispute between persons claiming interest in a bank account. The provision states that a bank is not required to make a payment where it knows of a dispute. The provision does not, however, prohibit a bank from making any payment, nor does it establish a prerequisite level of knowledge for a bank's decision to make a payment of funds. RCW 30.22.210 does not apply to the facts of this case and McClain's reliance upon it is entirely misplaced.

2. A Genuine Issue of Material Fact is More than a Mere Dispute

McClain misapplies CR 56 where it refers to a genuine issue of material fact. McClain identifies numerous instances in which he has disputed propositions advanced by 1st Security and claims that the mere existence of those disputes should have sufficed to defeat summary judgment. He draws no distinction between a legal dispute or an immaterial dispute of fact, on the one hand, and a genuine issue of material fact arising from the admissible evidence submitted by the parties, on the other. Only the latter has significance under CR 56.

McClain has identified no genuine issue of material fact arising from admissible evidence.

3. There is no Claim for Relief for Fraud in this Case

Another example of McClain taking language out of context is found in new argument, raised for the first time on appeal, that 1st Security must plead and prove common law fraud. No party to this case has asserted a claim for relief for fraud. A fraud was perpetrated on Comcast and Cox, neither of whom are parties to this case. That fact is referenced throughout this case. They were undeniably the victims of an internet fraud when their vendor payments were diverted to the Hanover/McClain account by someone pretending to be their vendor, Arris. The fact of that fraud is not a necessary component of 1st Security's defenses or its position on summary judgment.

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